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	Town/City:  
Georgetown

	Place: (neighborhood or village):



Town Center




	Address: 
15 Andover Street

	Historic Name:  
Baker House


James S. & Mary Molloy House

	Uses:
Present: 
single residence

	Original: 
single residence

	Date of Construction:  
ca. 1835

	Source:  deeds, historic maps

	Style/Form:   Greek Revival


	Architect/Builder:  
unknown

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  
brick

	Wall/Trim:  
wood clapboards

	Roof:  
asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  


none

	Major Alterations (with dates):  


Porch replaced

Window sash replaced



	Condition:  
good

	Moved:  no  FORMCHECKBOX 
 
yes  FORMCHECKBOX 
     Date:


	Acreage:  0.14 acre

	Setting:   This house is sited on the north side of Andover Street west of its intersection with Clark Street on a lot with mature trees. It is in the municipal center of town, an area of mixed residential, institutional, and commercial uses.



 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  


If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION:    

The Baker House/James S. & Mary Molloy House is a two-story wood frame dwelling located on the north side of Andover Street and on the west side of Cottage Street.  With its gable end oriented to the street and principal façade facing east, its plan conforms to middling urban housing of the period, much of it multiple-family in use.  The house backs up to the western lot line, to which the rear wall of a similar house on the adjoining property (17 Andover St.) also is oriented.  Both were owned by the same individual as tenant dwellings.  The eastern two-thirds of the house is based on a brick foundation, with the remaining part resting on stone.  This feature combined with the location of two chimneys west of the ridge suggests that the house originated with a single pile plan with chimneys on the back wall similar to many other houses built in Georgetown in the early 19th century.  The five-bay front (east) façade has windows closely-spaced and a central entrance with sidelights and a trabeated surround.  The roof has a shallow eave on the front and a thin frieze that the tops of the second-story window trim abut. The porch spanning the entrance and the northern windows of the first story is an alteration.

The south end of the house facing Andover Street contains two windows evenly spaced in each story and a single window in the gable, which is enclosed at its base to form a pediment.  The northern wall has the same fenestration but is flush with the roof edge.  The back wall of the house has two openings per floor with an entrance occupying one of the on the first story.
The house is sited in the southwest corner of the lot and is surrounded by lawn.  A wood fence screens the property on the Andover and Cottage street sides, with a break in the center of the Cottage Street side for entry into a small paved parking area.  A small shed is located in the rear of the parcel.

The Baker House/James S. & Mary Molloy House is an intact example of a tenant dwelling associated with Georgetown’s early development.  Built after 1830, with its narrow gable end oriented to the street, the house was sited in the mode of urban examples of this type.  The building is a contributing component of the village district.     
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    

The house at 15 Andover Street is said by the town to have been built in 1800, but no house is shown on this site on the 1830 map of the town, nor is it described in Orlando B. Tenney’s description of houses standing in Georgetown in 1826.
  By 1853 it was part of the estate of the late Nathaniel Nelson (1767-1853), a banker who made his fortune in nearby Newburyport and had extensive real property holdings; he lived at 8 Elm Street but owned (and may earlier have lived in) a house further west on Andover Street where his son-in-law, the attorney Jeremiah P. Jones, lived since the 1840s. When Jones and Joseph Kimball, administrators of Nelson’s estate, sold the 15 Andover Street property, they referred to it as the “Baker House.” Town histories are mute on to whom this house might have belonged, but there are at least three possibilities. The most likely is that it was the home of Universalist clergyman Henry F. Baker, a native of Maine who lived in Georgetown in 1850 with his wife Lovey and two young children; the Unitarian church then stood on the site of what is now Georgetown’s town hall, diagonally across Andover Street. It might have been the home of Cornelius Gould Baker, who had been born in West Newbury in 1812 and had died in Georgetown of typhus in 1845. In 1840 Baker, a shoemaker, had married Clarissa C. Robbins of Georgetown. The house may also have been owned by Cornelius’s father Gideon, who had moved from his native Yarmouth to Essex County by 1830; he died in Georgetown in 1868. Nathaniel Nelson might have acquired the house after Henry Baker left town for another pastorate or after the death of Cornelius Baker; alternatively, he may have owned it and rented it to one of these families. According to Georgetown’s Orlando B. Tenney, Nelson was “a large landholder . . . ever ready to give encouragement or render financial assistance to promote the growth and prosperity of the town” and was “mainly instrumental in the erection of more than twenty five dwelling houses now standing in town.”
 His own house on Elm Street was built in 1797, and he might have built this house, 17 Andover Street, and others in this area about the same time.
On 15 October 1853 Jones and Joseph Kimball, the executors of Nelson’s estate, sold the property to James S. Molloy.  In the 1850 census three men, all Irish immigrants, bore that name in Georgetown, and it is impossible to establish which of them acquired 15 Andover Street. The 1856 village map attaches the name “J. Molloy” to the house. Molloy might have been employed by Nathaniel Nelson; local historian Henry M. Nelson noted that Nathaniel Nelson “had several farm laborers of Irish birth transiently employed” between 1840 and 1850.”
 The Molloy family owned 15 Andover until 1864, when a James T. Molloy sold it for $900 to Mary E. Hughes, the wife of shoemaker Patrick O. Hughes, and her son Frank, born Francis Arthur Hughes in Georgetown in 1857.
  Patrick Hughes had come from Ireland to the United States by 1855, the year he married Irish immigrant Mary Molloy of Georgetown in Haverhill, and the couple was living in Georgetown in that year.  By 1870, this small section of Andover Street and the area north of it along Cottage Street was called the Acre in the Essex County directory, no doubt for the well-known section of Lowell that had emerged as an Irish immigrant neighborhood in the 1820s. The 1870 county directory lists fourteen householders, all Irish immigrants, as residents of Georgetown’s Acre—Hughes; his son Patrick and brother Arthur (1838-96); John Doonan, James Carroll, William Cronin, Henry Early, Owen McGinley, and James, James P., James T, Thomas, and Patrick Molloy 2d. Of these fourteen men, ten are listed as shoemakers, one as a shoe manufacturer, one as a farmer, and two as laborers. The 1872 map of Georgetown center depicts this concentration of Irish American settlement between the Boston and Maine rail corridor to west and Clark Street on the east: the homes of Patrick Hughes (“Huse” on the map, and shown north of the end of Cottage Street), Patrick Foley, Patrick Molloy (Maloy), N. (though probably Henry) Early, Owen McGauley (McGoley), John Doonan (Donan), three buildings marked “shoe shop,” and two houses belonging to Patrick Moan or Moen, also from Ireland but not listed in the 1870 county directory, are shown in the area alongside that of the Daniel Clark family for whom Clark Street was named.

The 1872 map appears to show the site of 15 Andover occupied by a shoe shop, though the property was owned by the Hughes family until 1912 and the 1885-86 directory shows Patrick O. Hughes living in a house on Andover Street at the corner of Cottage Street.  In 1876 Frank Hughes sold to his mother his half interest in the “Baker House . . . with the garden spot belonging to same . . . with the right to go with teams between the house hereby conveyed and the house of John Doonan for the purpose of drawing wood to the woodshed on the premises conveyed.”
 In 1895 Patrick Hughes died, and his widow Mary deeded the property to her three unmarried daughters, Mary A. (born 1856), Catherine (born 1862), and Rose Ellen (born 1866). The 1900 census shows the Mary Molloy Hughes in the house with her daughter Rose Ellen, and she rented part of the dwelling to laborer James P. McGauley and his wife Mary. In 1910 Mary Molloy Hughes died, and Rose Ellen lived in the house with her sister Sarah’s daughter Elizabeth Kennettt and the McGauleys.
In 1912 Rose Ellen Hughes moved to Boston and sold the property to Georgianna M. Kneeland, wife of shoe factory worker Lawrence R. Kneeland.
 Born in Goergetown in 1867, Kneeland was the son of farmer Noah R. Kneeland and his wife Charlotte Pillsbury Kneeland. His first wife, Grace Messenger, died in 1894, and the next year Kneeland married Georgianna M. Hall of Litchfield, New Hampshire. The 1915 directory shows the Kneeland family at 15 Andover Street; in that year Lawrence Kneeland worked for Georgetown Boot and Shoe Company on Park Street. The 1920 census shows him, his wife, and three children in the house, and they rented the part earlier occupied by the McGauleys to commercial laundry worker Frank E. Meader, his wife Mary, and their five children.
Lawrence and Georgianna Kneeland remained at 15 Andover Street until their deaths, three days apart in March 1949.
 In June 1950 the couple’s youngest son Verne, born in 1910, sold 15 Andover to Haverhill shoe worker Malcolm J. Burns and his wife Evelyn; a plan opposite the deed shows the house on the extreme western side of the corner lot with a shed in the northeast corner by Cottage Street. Burns, born in 1917, was the son of heel cutter William H. Burns and his wife Rose Matthews, and he married Evelyn J. Goodwin in Plaistow, New Hampshire, in 1939. He lived at 15 Andover until 1969, when he and his wife sold the property to Robert L. and Janice M. Sicotte. In February 2003, after Robert Sicotte’s death, his administrator sold the property to current owners Christopher J. and Trace Leigh Archbold.
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15 Andover (right) and 17 Andover from southwest
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Criteria Considerations:       FORMCHECKBOX 
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    B      FORMCHECKBOX 
   C     FORMCHECKBOX 
   D      FORMCHECKBOX 
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                   Statement of Significance by________Neil Larson_________________________________

                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
The Baker House/James S. & Mary Molloy House is an intact example of a tenant dwelling associated with Georgetown’s early development.  Built after 1830, with its narrow gable end oriented to the street, the house is was sited in the mode of more urban examples of this type.  The building is a contributing component of the village district.     
� “Hon. O. B. Tenney.” The article states that Tenney’s description is “thought to include every dwelling house then standing within the radius named,” which included Andover Street.


� “Hon. O. B. Tenney. A Sketch of One of Georgetown’s Oldest and Most Respected Citizens. Together with Other Interesting Historical Matter,” clipping from unidentified newspaper courtesy Joseph Knapp. 


� Henry M. Nelson, “Town of Georgetown History,” in History of Essex County, Massachusetts, with Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men (Philadelphia: J. W. Lewis and Co., 1888), 1:840.


� Joseph Kimball and Jeremiah P. Jones, administrators of estate of Nathaniel Nelson, to James S. Molloy, 15 October 1853, SED 485:208; James T. Molloy to Mary E. and Frank A. Hughes, 18 July 1864, SED 671:285.


� See Henry M.  Nelson, “Town of Georgetown History.” In History of Essex County, Massachusetts, with Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men, ed. D. Hamilton Hurd (Philadelphia: J. W. Lewis and Co., 1888) 1:834, 837.


� Frank A. Hughes to Mary Hughes, 2 November 1876, SED 963:218


� Rose Hughes’s sisters deeded their interest in the property to her in 1903; see M. A. Hughes and Catherine Hughes, Boston, to Rose E. Hughes, 17 March 1903, SED 1700:454. Rose E. Hughes, Boston, to Georgianna M. Kneeland, 14 May 1912, SED 2145:494.


� Town vital records state that Lawrence Kneeland, then eighty-two years old, died of carbon monoxide inhalation on 14 March, and that Georgianna Kneeland, also eighty-two, died in “burial transit,” presumably on the way to her husband’s funeral.


� Verne L. Kneeland, administrator estate Georgianna M. Kneeland, to Malcolm J. and Evelyn J. Burns, 30 June 1950, SED 3751:482; Janice M. Sicotte to Robert L. Sicotte, 17 November 1988, SED 9784:401; Darcie Nutall, administrator of estate Robert Sicotte (aka Robert L Sicotte) to Christopher J. Archbold and Tracy L. Wood, 15 Andover Street, 24 February 2003, SED 20226:83.
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